COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
NO.2006-CA-00875

DOUGLAS LONG, RICHARD LONG, EARL LONG
AND THE HEIRS AT LAW OF EDWARD LONG, WHO ARE JOYCE LONG,
INDIVIDUALLY, CRYSTAL LONG, A MINOR,
EDWARD LONG, JR., A MINOR AND CHRISTOPHER LONG,
A MINOR, WHO ARE ALL REPRESENTED BY THEIR MOTHER
AND NATURAL GUARDIAN JOYCE LONG; THE HEIRS AT LAW
OF DAVID LONG WHO ARE JOHN COLBY LONG, A MINOR REPRESENTED
BY HIS MOTHER AND NATURAL GUARDIAN, TERI LONG SCARBOUROGH,
AND COREY LONG WHO ARE INDIVIDUALLY REPRESENTED BY SEPARATE
COUNSEL

Appellants

VERSUS

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AT GULFPORT and THOMAS VAUGHAN, M.D.
AND JOHN DOES 2-5

Appellees

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

WILLIAM B. WEATHERLY
Attorney At Law

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in its January 9 and February 17, 2006 orders granting MHG's motion to dismiss the Hopkins Complaint¹ under M.R.C.P. 4(h).
 - a. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding as a matter of law that no other circumstances could ever be considered in showing good cause or excusable neglect under M.R.C.P. 4(h) where no attempt had been made to serve process within the initial 120 days.
 - b. Whether this case's procedural history prevented the Long Plaintiffs² from attempting service of the Hopkins Complaint on MHG within 120 days of its initial filing showing good cause to avoid dismissal of the claims against MHG under M.R.C.P. 4(h).
 - c. Whether a M.R.C.P. 4(h) dismissal of claims against the only initially named defendant also dismisses claims against a fictitious defendant who is named in an amended complaint and served prior to the dismissal.
2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in dismissing the claims against Dr. Vaughan.
 - a. Whether the Longs were prohibited by law and/or court orders from commencing or prosecuting their claims against Dr. Vaughan during much or all of the time prior to April 14, 2005.
 - b. Whether the Circuit Court erred in ruling the statute of limitations tolling language

¹The complaint the Hopkins firm filed October 17, 2002 for Lori McKinney is referred to as the Hopkins Complaint.

²Douglas Long, Richard Long, Earl Long, Joyce Long, Crystal Long, Edward Long, Jr., Christopher Long, John Colby Long, Teri Long Scarborough, and Corey Long will be referred to as the Long Plaintiffs or the Longs.

of the Mississippi Supreme Court's August 22, 2003 order was surplusage beyond that Court's power which could not toll the running of the statute of limitations against Vaughan or MHG.

- c. Whether the failure to serve the initially named defendant within 120 days of filing a complaint prevents a later amendment substituting an identified defendant for a fictitious defendant from relating back to the date of the original filing of the complaint.
3. Whether equitable principles such as equitable tolling apply to preserve the Longs' claims against MHG and/or Dr. Vaughan in light of the procedural history and the reasoning of *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So. 2d 160 (Miss. 2004).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second appeal involving the Huey P. Long wrongful death claims. The first dealt with two complaints filed one day apart by McKinney (the Hopkins Complaint) and the Long Plaintiffs (the Weatherly Complaint³); the attempt to consolidate the two; and the rights of wrongful death beneficiaries and their counsel to participate in the "one suit" permitted by the statute. This appeal concerns the proceedings and orders following the *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So. 2d 160 (Miss. 2004) decision reversing the Circuit Court's refusal to allow the Long Plaintiffs and their counsel to participate in litigating the suit declared to be the one action permitted by the statute.

Following the *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So. 2d 160 (Miss. 2004) decision allowing them to participate fully in the Hopkins action, Weatherly entered a formal appearance for the Longs in

³The complaint William Weatherly filed October 18, 2002 on behalf of the Long Plaintiffs is referred to as the Weatherly Complaint as the Circuit Court did.

that action. (R. 11) The Hopkins firm withdrew and Lori McKinney continued on pro se. (R. 13-15). After the Hopkins firm withdrew, McKinney finally allowed Weatherly and the Longs access to Huey P. Long's medical records. (R. 185-186, 189-195) Weatherly then had a summons issued for and served on MHG, the only initially named defendant on the Hopkins Complaint. (R. 47-48) After learning through the medical records that Dr. Thomas Vaughan was the anaesthesiologist in Huey P. Long's surgery, Weatherly filed an amended complaint on July 26, 2005 substituting Vaughan for one of the Hopkins Complaint John Doe physician defendants. (R. 21-33)

MHG moved to dismiss on August 4, 2005 alleging failure to serve process within 120 days under M.R.C.P. 4(h). (R. 34-36) On August 8, 2005, MHG answered raising Tort Claims Act notice and statute of limitations defenses and failure of service under M.R.C.P. 4(h). (R. 49-58) The Circuit Court granted MHG's motion on January 9, 2006, denying reconsideration on February 17, 2006⁴. (R. 70-73)

Vaughan was served with the amended complaint on January 5, 2006 after Weatherly, on behalf of the Longs, was granted an extension. Vaughan filed his own motion to dismiss and an answer on February 7, 2006. (R. 89-107, 133) His motion to dismiss was based on the theory that when the Circuit Court dismissed the Hopkins Complaint claims against MHG, the entire Hopkins Complaint died rendering the amendment naming him a nullity. In his supporting memorandum, he also raised statute of limitations defenses, arguing the claims against him did not relate back to the original filing of the Hopkins Complaint. (R. 116-127) On April 28, 2006,

⁴In the February 17, 2006 order, the Circuit Court erroneously refers to the motion for reconsideration as being filed by Lori McKinney. The motion for reconsideration was clearly filed for the Longs by Weatherly who had no authority to represent or act for McKinney and is based in substantial part on the actions of the Hopkins firm who formerly represented McKinney. (R. 74-81, 134)

the Circuit Court granted his motion, finding the statute of limitations expired on claims against Vaughan no later than February 3, 2005. (R. 214-218)

On May 16, 2006, Weatherly filed a notice of appeal on behalf of the Long Plaintiffs appealing the January 9, February 17, and April 28, 2006 orders of the Circuit Court dismissing the claims against MHG and Vaughan. (R. 219-220)

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Huey P. Long died October 8, 2002 after surgery on October 5, 2002 at MHG. He was survived by a daughter, Lori McKinney; three sons, Douglas Long, Richard Long, and Earl Long; Joyce Long, Crystal Long, Edward Long, Jr., and Christopher Long (heirs of another son, Edward Long); and John Colby Long and Corey Long, (heirs of a fifth son, David Long). (R. at 214-215)

McKinney and the Longs both immediately hired counsel to pursue a wrongful death action. McKinney hired the Hopkins firm who opened an estate and filed the Hopkins Complaint on October 17, 2002 naming MHG and five John Doe Defendants, including the surgeon and the anesthesiologist. (R. at 37-38, 214-215) McKinney, represented by Albin Hopkins, realizing MHG could be a community hospital covered by the Tort Claims Act, sent a notice of claim to MHG which was received on October 17, 2002. The next day, October 18, 2002, the Weatherly Complaint was filed naming only John Doe Defendants as they did not have access to the medical records to identify potential defendants and could not sue MHG yet because the Tort Claims Act waiting period had not yet passed. (R. at 65, 67, 77, 161, 184) Neither McKinney nor the Long Plaintiffs requested the issuance of any summons at the time the complaints were filed. (R. 215)

From the beginning, the Hopkins firm opposed any participation by the Longs or their attorney in any wrongful death suit. Both the Hopkins firm and MHG opposed all of Weatherly's

attempts to obtain Huey P. Long's medical records. (R. at 184-185) On November 21, 2002, a subpoena was served on MHG. Less than two weeks later, on December 2, 2002, MHG filed a motion to quash listing itself as a defendant in the caption, clearly indicating it had knowledge it was a named defendant in a Huey P. Long wrongful death case. (R. at 65-67)

Around the same time, Weatherly filed a motion for the Long Plaintiffs to consolidate the Hopkins and Weatherly complaints. The Hopkins firm filed a motion for McKinney seeking dismissal of the Weatherly Complaint. (R. at 65, 76) On December 19, 2002, the Circuit Court denied the Long motion to consolidate, granted the McKinney motion to dismiss the Weatherly Complaint, and ruled McKinney and her counsel had the right to control the wrongful death litigation. (R. at 161-163)

The Long Plaintiffs moved for reconsideration of the December 19, 2002 order. On reconsideration, on February 6, 2003, the Circuit Court amended its December 19, 2002 order ruling that the Longs should be allowed to join the Hopkins action, that Weatherly should be allowed to be counsel of record for the Long Plaintiffs, that Weatherly was to receive copies of pleadings and notices of hearings and be allowed to attend depositions and retain experts and to subpoena records, but that his participation would be subject to the right of the Hopkins firm and McKinney to control of the litigation. (R. 211-213)

McKinney sought reconsideration of the February 6, 2003 order.⁵ On March 24, 2003, the Circuit Court issued an order finding "its Order of February 6, 2003, should be and is

⁵This motion was described in footnote 7 of *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So. 2d 160 (Miss. 2004) as "Lori, 'on behalf of' the Longs, filing a motion against the Longs, in an attempt to exclude them, against their will, from participation in the litigation wherein she and the Hopkins Firm purport to represent them," saying it was an example of the potential conflicts of interest present in the statute and the difficulty faced by the bench and bar in light of prior refusals of the court to provide clear procedural rules for wrongful death actions.

reconsidered and voided” and “reaffirm[ing] its Order of December 19, 2002 ... recogniz[ing] Hopkins, Barvie & Hopkins, P.L.L.C., as attorney of record in this case” (R. 164-165) The voiding of the February 6, 2003 order and recognition of the Hopkins firm as sole attorney of record in the case in combination with the reaffirmance of dismissal of the Weatherly Complaint effectively prohibited Weatherly and the Long Plaintiffs from doing anything in an action for the wrongful death of Huey P. Long.⁶

Meanwhile the initial 120 day period from the Hopkins Complaint filing passed on February 14, 2003 and the 120 day period on the Weatherly Complaint passed on February 15, 2003. The Weatherly Complaint had been dismissed in December of 2002, before the running of its initial 120 day period and thus could not be served on anyone. (R. 161-163) The Hopkins firm was vigorously opposing any effort by Weatherly or the Longs to participate in any wrongful death action. The Hopkins firm allowed the 120 day period on the Hopkins Complaint to pass with no effort to obtain issuance of a summons against MHG. (R. 215)

When the Circuit Court refused to certify the March 24, 2003 order for interlocutory appeal, Weatherly filed a petition for interlocutory appeal and stay on behalf of the Longs with the Mississippi Supreme Court on April 21, 2003. (R. 159, 215) Weatherly also filed a motion to expedite the appeal based on concerns about the statute of limitations, particularly in regard to the John Doe defendants. On August 22, 2003, the Mississippi Supreme Court granted the petition

⁶The April 28, 2006 order finds the February 6, 2003 order allowed Weatherly to join the Hopkins complaint and participate in preparation and trial of the case. However, it fails to recognize the February 6 order was expressly voided by the March 24, 2003 order with no exception allowing Weatherly or the Longs to do anything in the Hopkins action. (See R. 164 and *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So. 2d 160, ¶¶ 72-73 (Miss. 2004) (interpreting the March 24, 2003 order as concluding that neither the Longs nor Weatherly should be allowed to further participate in the one wrongful death suit permitted by the statute).

and issued an order stating:

the trial court ... dismiss[ed] the suit filed by [the Long Plaintiffs] and denied the motion to consolidate Thereafter, the trial court denied joinder by [the Longs] in the first suit filed by McKinney. ... the panel finds that the petition for interlocutory appeal should be granted. Further, the panel finds that the motion to expedite the appeal should be granted and that the statute of limitations *in this matter* shall be tolled pending the appeal.

(R. at 159-160). In the same order, that Court described the “matter” before it as the wrongful death claims of both McKinney and the Longs, both the Hopkins and the Weatherly suits, the orders on the issues of consolidation and joinder and the motion to expedite the interlocutory appeal because of concerns about statute of limitations issues on the wrongful death claims. The Court then made very clear the wide breadth of its order staying all proceedings below on both the Hopkins Complaint and the Weatherly Complaint pending disposition of the appeal; entering an order for expedited briefing; and ordering “that the statute of limitations in this wrongful death suit is hereby tolled pending the determination of this appeal.” (R. at 159-160)

Despite the expedited briefing schedule, the first appeal decision came December 2, 2004, almost two years after the original circuit court order giving McKinney and the Hopkins firm control of the wrongful death litigation. *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So. 2d 160 (Miss. 2004). With the delays associated with petitions for rehearing and amicus briefs, the mandate lifting the stay and reactivating the Hopkins Complaint in the trial court with the right of Weatherly and the Longs to participate was delayed to April 14 and filed on April 18, 2005. (R. at 10)

It is only at this point that Weatherly and the Longs were allowed to become fully involved in the Hopkins action. (R. 185) On May 26, 2005, Weatherly entered a formal appearance as counsel of record for the Longs. (R. 11) On May 31, 2005, the Hopkins firm filed a motion to withdraw as counsel for McKinney and the wrongful death beneficiaries citing a conflict between the parties which could not be resolved causing withdrawal to be in the best

interest of McKinney. (R. 13) This motion was granted on June 3, 2005 leaving Weatherly as counsel for the Longs on the Hopkins Complaint, controlled up to this point by the Hopkins firm which had not had a summons issued for or served on MHG. (R. 15, 215)

The same day that withdrawal of the Hopkins firm was approved, Weatherly had a summons issued for MHG which was served on June 6, 2005. (R. 47-48) MHG clearly already knew it was a defendant in the action and with the resolution of the procedural conflicts between McKinney, the Hopkins firm and the Longs, it would have to begin its defense. One day before it was served with process, MHG filed a motion for extension of time to file its answer which the Circuit Court granted on July 7, 2005. (R. 16, 19)

When the Hopkins firm withdrew in early June of 2005, Weatherly was finally able to obtain Huey P. Long's medical records from another attorney "advising" and "counseling," but not representing, McKinney after the Hopkins withdrawal. In these records, Weatherly and the Long first learned Dr. Thomas Vaughan's identity as the anaesthesiologist in Huey Long's fatal surgery. (R. 185-186) Shortly thereafter, and prior to MHG actually filing its answer, on July 26, 2005, Weatherly filed an Amended Complaint substituting Vaughan for a John Doe defendant on the Hopkins Complaint. (R. 21-33)

On August 4, 2005, MHG filed a motion asserting the Hopkins action must be dismissed as to MHG under M.R.C.P. 4(h) because it had not been served within 120 days of the filing of the Hopkins Complaint. It asserted the period for service under Rule 4(h) expired on February 14, 2003 because McKinney failed to move for an extension of time prior to the expiration of the initial 120 day period. MHG asserted none of the plaintiffs could not show good cause to avoid dismissal as a matter of law because McKinney had made no effort at all to serve MHG within the initial 120 days. (R. 34-36) MHG filed its answer on August 8, 2005. It raised a number of

defenses including expiration of the statute of limitations, failure to comply with the notice requirements of the Tort Claims Act, and other Tort Claims Act defenses and limitations. (R. 49-57)

Three weeks later, on August 29, 2005, both Weatherly's home and law office were destroyed by Hurricane Katrina, including his Huey P. Long wrongful death case file. Among the records lost was information on his attempts to locate Dr. Vaughan who had moved from the Harrison County area. In November 2005, when Weatherly was first able to recreate part of his file, he realized the 120 day period after filing for service of the amended complaint on Dr. Vaughan was fast approaching. He requested and was granted a 60 day extension on November 23, 2005. On January 5, 2006, the investigator/process server hired to locate Vaughan found him and served the amended complaint. (R. 59-63, 179-181, 186-187)

Meanwhile on September 6, 2005, the Mississippi Supreme Court entered an order on emergency procedures following Hurricane Katrina authorizing Circuit Courts to take action to prevent injustice. The Circuit Court of Harrison County suspended deadlines through October 31, 2005. Neither order extended statutes of limitations. The Harrison County order did extend the deadline for responding to MHG's motion to dismiss. See September 12, 2005 Emergency Administrative General Order of the Judges of the Second Circuit Court District, Harrison, Hancock and Stone Counties (<http://www.mssc.state.ms.us/news/89R99015EMERADMN.pdf>); September 6, 2005 Emergency Administrative Order of Mississippi Supreme Court (<http://www.mssc.state.ms.us/news/KatrinaOrder.pdf>)

On December 8, 2005, Weatherly responded to MHG's motion to dismiss under M.R.C.P. 4(h) arguing the Hopkins Complaint claims against MHG should not be dismissed because the procedural history of this case (including the McKinney/Hopkins opposition to any

participation by Weatherly and the Longs in the wrongful death claims; the Long's October 17, 2002 Tort Claims Act notice to MHG; the dismissal of the Weatherly Complaint less than 120 days after filing; the March 24, 2003 voiding of the February 6, 2003 order allowing him and the Long Plaintiffs to participate in the Hopkins action; the interlocutory appeal and petition for stay; the August 22, 2003 Mississippi Supreme Court order tolling the statute of limitations, the April 14, 2005 mandate allowing Weatherly and the Longs to participate in the Hopkins Complaint and the subsequent events concerning withdrawal of the Hopkins firm) demonstrated good cause for why Weatherly and the Longs had not had a summons issued and served process on MHG prior to the first week of June 2005. (R. 64-68) Despite these arguments, on January 9, 2006, the Circuit Court granted MHG's motion to dismiss on the theory that no attempt had been made by anyone to serve MHG between October 17, 2002 and June 6, 2005 and that absent such an attempt, good cause can never be demonstrated as a matter of law. Despite Weatherly's clear argument that the procedural history provided justification and a reason why the Long Plaintiffs made no attempt to serve MHG within 120 days of filing of either the Hopkins or Weatherly Complaint, the Circuit Court held they provided "no reason why service was not attempted on MHG before the 120 day period ran." (R. at 70-73)

Weatherly filed a motion to reconsider on behalf of the Longs on January 19, 2006 pointing out the Court's failure to consider the effects of case procedural history on justification and good cause for not serving MHG within the initial 120 day period. (R. 74-82) MHG responded on February 1, 2006 arguing M.R.C.P. 4(h) had to be strictly construed and the procedural history relied on by Weatherly and the Longs did not fall within the previous interpretations of good cause and excusable neglect which were the only exceptions allowed by Rule 4(h). (R. 83-88) On February 17, 2006, the Circuit Court refused to reconsider. (R. 134)

Before the motion to reconsider was heard, Vaughan filed a motion to dismiss with his answer on February 7, 2006. He argued the entire original Hopkins Complaint was barred by the statute of limitations because of lack of any attempt to serve MHG within 120 days of initial filing. He claimed the dismissal of the Hopkins Complaint on January 9, 2006 rendered it a nullity from the beginning meaning there was nothing to amend and nothing for the amended complaint to relate back to automatically resulting in the statute of limitations running on the claims against him. He also claimed a lack of diligence in discovering his identity and substituting him for the John Doe anesthesiologist on the basis that his name appeared in Huey P. Long's medical records. Although he filed no motion for summary judgment, he submitted an affidavit and a statement of itemized facts in support of summary judgment. In his supporting memorandum on both a motion to dismiss and for summary judgment, he asked the court to convert the motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment if it considered anything outside of what he submitted on his motion to dismiss. (R. 89-107,112-127, 132-133)

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