IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO: 2006-TS-00875

DOUGLAS LONG , ET AL

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AT GULFPORT
AND THOMAS VAUGHN, M.D.

APPELLEES

**MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AT GULFPORT's
APPELLEE's BRIEF**

Appeal from the
Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi
First Judicial District

Patricia K. Simpson ([REDACTED])
FRANKE & SALLOUM, PLLC
Post Office Box 460
Gulfport, MS 39502
Telephone: 228.868.7070
Facsimile: 228.868.7090

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOUGLAS LONG, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

CAUSE NO: 2006-CA-00875

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AT GULFPORT
AND THOMAS VAUGHN, MD

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err when it dismissed the Complaint against MHG pursuant to Rule 4(h) of the M.R.C.P.. The Longs did not attempt to serve MHG during the 120 day service period. It is long standing law that in order to establish good cause for the failure to serve a summons and complaint on a defendant within 120 days of filing the complaint, the plaintiffs must demonstrate at least as much as would be required to show excusable neglect, as to which simple inadvertence

or mistake of counsel or ignorance of the rules usually does not suffice. Good cause can never be demonstrated where the plaintiff has not been diligent in attempting to serve process. No explanation has been provided as to why the Longs failed to attempt service on MHG during the 120 day period. No explanation was provided as to why the Longs failed to request an extension of time to obtain service of process. The trial court was correct in dismissing the complaint against MHG.

The trial court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over MHG in this case as the result of the Plaintiffs' failure to comply with the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA"). The Longs agree that the mandates of the Tort Claims Act were not followed. *See Appellant's Brief, p. 20* As indicated in the footnote in the Longs brief, McKinney sent a notice of claim to MHG after filing the initial complaint. *See Appellant's Brief, p. 20* Pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1)*, a party **shall** file a notice of claim with the chief executive officer of the governmental entity ninety days prior to maintaining an action thereon. *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1)*. Pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1)*, a plaintiff is required to wait ninety days after giving notice before filing suit. The Mississippi Supreme Court has ruled that the failure to wait ninety days after giving notice to file a lawsuit is grounds for summary judgment. *University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Easterling*, 928 So. 2d 815, 818 (Miss. 2006) Applying the mandates of *Easterling*, this case must be dismissed as the trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over MHG. Taken on its face, the notice of claim purportedly submitted by McKinney in this case this does not comply with the notice requirements of the MTCA.

It is long standing precedent that a plaintiff who does not serve the defendant within the 120-day period must either refile the complaint before the statute of limitations ends or show good cause for failing to serve process on the defendant within that 120 day period; otherwise dismissal is proper. Pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(3)*, all actions under the MTCA must be commenced within one year next after the date of the tortious action. *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(3)* also provides that the statute of limitations may be tolled for an additional period of time if a claimant provides notice in compliance with *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1)& (2)*. Once the claimant has complied with those requirements, the statute of limitations will be tolled as provided in *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(3)*. It is undisputed that those requirements were not complied with in this case, thus, the statute of limitations was not tolled.

The doctrine of equitable estoppel does not apply in this case. There is no allegation or evidence that MHG or Dr. Vaughn induced the Longs into delaying the filing of the complaint in this case. In fact, the complaint was filed very quickly after the death of Huey Long. Equitable estoppel did not toll the statute of limitations in this case.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly dismissed the Complaint against MHG pursuant to Rule 4(h)

It is undisputed that MHG was not served with the Complaint within 120 days of the Complaint being filed. Rule 4(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides as follows:

If a service of the summons and Complaint is not made upon a Defendant within **120 days** after the **filing** of the complaint and the party on whose behalf such service was required cannot show good cause why such service was not made within that period, the action

shall be dismissed as to that Defendant without prejudice upon the Court's own initiative with notice to such party or upon motion.

MRCP 4(h) (emphasis added)

It is long standing law that in order to establish good cause for the failure to serve a summons and complaint on a defendant within 120 days of filing the complaint, the plaintiffs must demonstrate at least as much as would be required to show excusable neglect, as to which simple inadvertence or mistake of counsel or ignorance of the rules usually does not suffice. *Bacou-Dalloz Safety Inc. v. Hall*, 938 So. 2d 820, 823 (Miss. 2006) In *Bacou-Dalloz*, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and rendered the trial court's denial of Bacou-Dalloz's motion to dismiss for failure to serve it within 120 days of filing the complaint. Hall attempted to serve Bacou-Dalloz with service through CT Corporation. *Id.* at 821 CT Corporation returned the documents and informed Hall's counsel that it was not the registered agent for Bacou-Dalloz. *Id.* Hall made no other attempt to serve Bacou-Dalloz with the original complaint. Four hundred and ninety-nine (499) days after the expiration of the 120 day service period, Hall served Bacou-Dalloz with the Second Amended Complaint. *Id.* Noting that the plaintiff provided no reason why the defendant was not served after the initial attempt, the Court reiterated the requirement that when service is not made within 120 days after the filing of the complaint, a plaintiff must show good cause why process was not served within that period or dismissal of the suit is required. *Bacou-Dalloz Safety Inc. v. Hall*, 938 So. 2d 820, 823 (Miss. 2006) citing *MRCP 4(h)*; *Triple C Transp. Inc. v. Dickens*, 870 So. 2d 1195, 1200-01 (Miss. 2004) and *Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority*, 815 So. 2d 1183, 1185 (Miss. 2002) The Mississippi Supreme Court ruled that "[p]laintiffs' inaction, without adequate explanation, shows

a lack of good cause far beyond excusable neglect.” *Id.* The Court then reversed the trial court’s decision and rendered.

“A plaintiff who does not serve the defendant within the 120-day period must either refile the complaint before the statute of limitations ends or show good cause for failing to serve process on the defendant within that 120 day period; otherwise dismissal is proper.” *Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority*, 815 So. 2d 1183, 1185 (Miss. 2002) In *Holmes*, the plaintiff gave his notice of claim to the transit authority, a political subdivision, 53 days before the expiration of the statute of limitations. *Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority*, 815 So. 2d 1183, 1184 (Miss. 2002) He then timely filed his complaint before the expiration of the statute of limitations. He did not serve the transit authority until 150 days had passed. *Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority*, 815 So. 2d at 1184 After the complaint was filed, but prior to its service upon the transit authority, Holmes and the transit authority engaged in settlement negotiations. In fact, Holmes rejected the transit authority’s final offer of settlement two days before the complaint was served. *Id.*

The Supreme Court upheld the trial court’s dismissal of the complaint finding that good faith settlement negotiations do not constitute good cause for failure to effect timely service of process under M.R.C.P. 4(h). *Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority*, 815 So. 2d 1183, 1186-87 (Miss. 2002) Adopting the reasoning in *Healthcare Compare Corp. v. Super Solutions Corp.*, 151 F.R.D. 114 (D.Minn. 1993) discussing F.R.C.P. 4(j), the equivalent to M.R.C.P. 4(h), the Court reasoned that there is no reason why, if parties are engaged in good faith negotiations, service of process cannot be timely had. *Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority*, 815 So. 2d 1183, 1187 (Miss. 2002) This

is particularly true since timely service of process merely protects the plaintiff's right to litigate and would not call a halt to negotiations. *Id.*

This Court has held that M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) demands strict compliance, both from parties represented by counsel and those proceeding *pro se*. See *Perry v. Andy*, 858 So. 2d 143, 146 (Miss. 2003) Rule 4(h) is intended to require plaintiffs to timely submit their claims to a court for appropriate judicial review. *Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority*, 815 So. 2d 1183, 1187 (Miss. 2002) Exceptions to this requirement are only permitted upon a showing of good cause or excusable neglect. *Moore ex. rel. Moore v. Boyd*, 799 So. 2d 133 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) Specifically, this Court has articulated standards as to what constitutes "good cause" as required by Rule 4(h):

[G]ood cause is likely (but not always) to be found when the plaintiff's failure to complete service in timely fashion is a result of the conduct of a third person, typically the process server, the defendant has evaded process or engaged in misleading conduct, the plaintiff has acted diligently in trying to effect service or there are understandable mitigating circumstances or the plaintiff is proceeding *pro se* or in forma pauperis.

Perry v. Andy, 858 So. 2d 143, 146 (Miss. 2003)

The Longs contend that the trial court was "operating under a misconception of the law" when it ruled that good cause could not be demonstrated where the Plaintiff fails to attempt service on the Defendant within the 120 days of filing the complaint. See *Appellant's Brief*, p.16 This Court has mandated that "good cause can ***never be demonstrated*** where the plaintiff has not been diligent in attempting to serve process." *Montgomery v. Smithkline Beecham Corp.*, 910 So. 2d 541

(Miss. 2005) citing *Bang v. Pittman*, 749 So. 2d 47, 52 (Miss. 1999) In the current case, no attempt to serve MHG was made within the 120 day period. It is undisputed no summons was requested or issued during that time period. MHG contends that, as a matter of law, good cause cannot be shown where no attempt to serve was made.

The Plaintiff bears the burden of showing good cause. To establish good cause, the plaintiff must demonstrate “at least as much as would be required to show excusable neglect, as to which simple inadvertence or mistake of counsel or ignorance of the rules usually does not suffice.” *In Re Holtzman*, 823 So. 2d 1180, 1183 (Miss. 2002) The fact that dismissal may work to preclude the action because of the running of the statute of limitation is of no consequence. *Id.* A plaintiff must be **diligent in serving process** if he is to show good cause in failing to serve process within 120 days. *In Re Holtzman*, 823 So. 2d 1180, 1184 (Miss. 2002) The Mississippi Supreme Court has ruled that allegations that defendants avoid service of process, cannot be located or were unknown until discovery may qualify as good cause. *Id.* The Court has held that “the excusable neglect standard is a very strict standard”. *Perry v. Andy*, 858 So. 2d 143, 147 (Miss. 2003)

This case presents the identical issues as presented in *Bacou-Dalloz Safety Inc. v. Hall*, 938 So. 2d 820, 823 (Miss. 2006) and *Heard v. Remy*, 937 So.2d 939 (Miss. 2006). It is undisputed that no attempt to serve MHG was made during the initial 120-day period following the filing of the complaint. More importantly, no adequate explanation as to why service wasn’t attempted has been provided by the Longs. In *Remy*, the Court mandated that a failure to attempt service for four months without adequate explanation shows a lack of diligence beyond excusable neglect. *Heard*

v. Remy, 937 So.2d 939, 944 (Miss. 2006) Heard's complaint was dismissed by the trial court after he found that good cause did not exist for Heard's failure to serve Remy within 120 days. *Id.*

In *Remy*, Heard failed to obtain service on Remy within the 120-day period following the filing of the complaint. *Heard v. Remy*, 937 So.2d 939, 940-941 (Miss. 2006) Approximately twenty days after the expiration of the 120-day period for service of process, Heard filed a motion for extension of time within which to serve process on Remy. *Id. at 940* The trial court granted an extension of 60 days but did not make any findings as to whether Heard had shown good cause for the failure to serve Remy during that time. *Id.* Remy was served during that sixty day time period. *Id.* Remy filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings asserting that the statute of limitations had run prior to Heard's filing of the motion for extension of time to serve. *Id.* After conducting a hearing on the motion, the trial court found that good cause did not exist where no attempt at service was made for four months and such failure to attempt service showed a lack of diligence beyond excusable neglect. *Id. at 943* This Court upheld the trial court's ruling finding that the continuing failure to attempt service during the four month (120 day) period without adequate explanation shows a lack of diligence beyond excusable neglect. *Id.*

The Longs contend that the case procedural history prevented them from attempting service of the Complaint in this case. *See Appellant's Brief, p. 1, 17-20* However, there are several options they could have taken in this case. The Longs could have ascertained whether or not MHG had been served with the initial complaint by simply looking at the court docket. It cannot be overlooked that the Longs initiated the extensive legal battle that ensued by filing a second complaint and then filing a motion to consolidate. The Longs could have notified the trial court

when the motion to consolidate was filed that no Defendant had been served yet. When the request for reconsideration was filed, the issue could have been presented to the trial court. Simply looking at the court docket would allow the Longs to determine if service had been accomplished. Since the February 6, 2003 Order specifically allowed the Longs to participate in the litigation filed by McKinney, the Longs could have filed a motion to extend time to serve MHG or, in fact, could have had a summons issued and served on MHG directly. After the March 24, 2003 Order (which still allowed the Longs to participate in the litigation), they could have filed a motion to alert the trial court that no service on the Defendants had been made yet.

It is undisputed that MHG did not do anything to avoid service of process in this case. It is also undisputed that the Longs and their counsel knew where MHG was located. The Longs have provided no reason for the failure to serve MHG during the 120 day service period. Nowhere in the response to MHG's motion or the transcript of the hearing on MHG's motion do the Longs provide a reason why no summons was issued or served on MHG within the 120 day service period. *See R. 64-69 and Transcript of Hearings, p. 2-17* The Longs simply contend that the procedural history of the case provides good cause for the failure to serve MHG. Since the Longs failed to provide adequate explanation as to why service was not attempted on MHG in this case, the trial court was correct in ruling that good cause did not exist to satisfy Rule 4(h) and the case was properly dismissed.

The trial court does not have subject matter jurisdiction over MHG

It cannot be overlooked that the parties did not comply with the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA"). In a footnote in their brief, the Longs agree that the mandates of the Tort Claims Act

were not followed. *See Appellant's Brief, p. 20* Although the Longs contend that they were prohibited by the MTCA from serving a complaint on MHG until the expiration of the 120 day tolling period after McKinney supposedly served a notice of claim upon MHG on or about October 17, 2002, the Longs' interpretation of the statute mandating a 120 day period is inaccurate. *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(3)* provides that after complying with the notice requirements of Section (1), the statute of limitations will toll for a period of 120 days unless the claimant receives a denial response from the political entity. The notice requirement of *Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1)* is a separate matter.

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